IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GUERRY WAYNE HERTZ,

Appellant,

vs.

Case Number SC00-457

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

**APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR WAKULLA COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA**

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**GARCIA AND SELIGER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 244597 (SS)
16 NORTH ADAMS STREET
QUINCY, FLORIDA 32351
(850) 875-4668**

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

BY: STEVEN L. SELIGER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a Wakulla County circuit court order imposing two death sentences on Mr. Hertz for the first-degree murder of Melanie King and Robin Keith Spears. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(a)(i), Fl. R. App. P.

(ii) Course of Proceedings and disposition in lower tribunal.

A grand jury in Wakulla County indicted Jimmy Dempsey, Guerry Hertz and Jason Looney for the first-degree murders of Melanie King and Robin Keith Spears. In addition, the three men were charged with burglary of a dwelling while armed; robbery with a firearm; arson of a dwelling; and using a firearm during the commission of a felony. (R1-1-3)¹ Contemporaneous with the indictment, the State filed a notice of its intent to seek the death penalty against all three men. (R1-13)

Mr. Hertz filed a motion to sever his case from that of the other co-defendants. (R1-19) The judge's order severed the trial of Dempsey from Hertz and Looney. (R1-20) Hertz then filed a motion for change of venue arguing that a trial in Wakulla County was "inherently prejudicial." (R1-23-24) The defense also filed a motion to have experts appointed to render an opinion on Mr. Hertz's competency to stand trial. (R1-

¹Count 6 is erroneously labeled Count IV.

27) The judge granted this request. (R1-30) At the conclusion of the evaluation process, both mental health examiners opined that Mr. Hertz was not presently competent to stand trial. Based on these findings, the defense filed a motion to have Mr. Hertz declared incompetent. (R1-84-100) After a hearing, the trial judge ruled that Mr. Hertz was competent to stand trial. (R1-111) (R3-473-474)

The State filed a motion to consolidate the trials of Hertz and Looney. (R1-37) This seems to be inconsistent with the judge's prior order which only severed Dempsey's case. The defense filed an amended motion to suppress statements made by Mr. Hertz while being transported from Daytona Beach to Crawfordville. (R1-51) This motion was denied. (R1-113) The defense filed a motion to preclude the state from introducing some evidence relating to the Daytona Beach aspect of the case. (R1-167)

The defense filed a series of motions directed toward a possible death sentence. The first motion asked the judge to declare the entire death penalty statute unconstitutional based on Schad v. Arizona. (R1-39) This motion was denied. (R1-116) The defense requested that jurors be questioned individually. (R1-58) The defense also requested a record be made of all hardship excuses made by potential jurors and that none be made with the defense lawyer being present. (R1-62) This motion was granted. (R1-120) The defense filed a motion seeking to have Section

921.141(5)(d) declared unconstitutional on its face. This aggravator deals with the capital felony be committed while the defendant is engaged in the commission of a specified felony. (R1-65) This motion was denied. (R1-117) The defense also made a pre selection request for additional peremptory challenges. (R1-71) This motion was denied. (R1-115) The defense wanted a pretrial order requiring the State to tell which aggravators it was going to rely on and provide the evidentiary basis for these aggravators. (R1-74) This motion was denied. (R1-114) The Court also denied a motion requesting that Section 922.10 be declared unconstitutional. (R1-118)

During the trial, the defendants objected to the introduction of State's Exhibit 1-C, a photograph showing two bodies lying face down side-by-side on the bed, burned beyond recognition. (R13-1544) The defense argued that State's Exhibit 1-T and 1-U illustrated the condition of the crime scene, including the bed, without the bodies. Id. The objection was overruled and all of the photographs of the crime scene were admitted.

The defendant also objected to the use of the autopsy photos, asking to conduct voir dire of the medical examiner to establish the need for the photographs. (R13-1587) The objection to the autopsy photographs to explain the cause of death. (R13-91) The objection was overruled again. (R13-1592) The defense also objected to the method of publication being a "huge colored blowup." (R13-1593)

The defendant objected to evidence of the shootout and capture in Volusia County and the objection was overruled. (R15-1728)

Jason Looney moved for a mistrial when Inmate Hathcock testified about statement that Hertz had made implicating Looney. The basis of the motion was his inability to cross-examine Hertz about the statement. (R15-1850) The State admitted that the testimony was a mistake, but argued that a curative instruction should be sufficient because the mistake was “harmless.” (R15-1851, 1854) The judge treated the motion as one for a severance, over the protests of defense counsel, took the matter under advisement, and denied the State’s request for a curative instruction. (R15-1858) Hertz then asked the judge to advise the jury to disregard the testimony of Hathcock and the judge agreed to do so. (R15-1859) The judge denied the motion for mistrial, struck the testimony of Hathcock, and instructed the jury to disregard the testimony. (R15-1882, 1892)

The defense moved for judgments of acquittal at the close of the State’s case-in-chief and the motions were denied. (R16-1986)

The guilt phase of the trial ended with the jury finding Mr. Hertz guilty of each charge. (R19-2177-2179) (R1-190) (murder of Melaine King); (R1-191) (murder of Robin Spears); (R1-192) (burglary of a dwelling while armed with a firearm); (R1-193) (robbery with a firearm); (R1-194) (arson of a dwelling); (R1-195) (use of a firearm in

the commission of a felony). The jury deliberated for about 90 minutes.

The jury recommended that death be imposed for the murders of Ms. King and Mr. Spears by identical 10-2 votes. (R2-203, 204) (R20-2415) By written order, the judge imposed a sentence of death for each murder. (R1-290-300) In the four noncapital cases, the judge sentence Mr. Hertz to life on the burglary of a dwelling while armed (Count III); (R2-285); life on the robbery with a firearm (Count IV) (R2-286); 30 years on the arson of a dwelling (Count V) (R2-287) and 15 years for the use of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (Count VI) (R2-288).² All sentences were ordered to run consecutive to one another. (R2-289)

From these judgments and sentences, Mr. Hertz filed a timely notice of appeal. (R2-302)

(ii)(a) COMPETENCY HEARING

The defense raised the issue of Mr. Hertz' competency to stand trial. (R1-27) Hertz was evaluated by Michael D'Errico, a private forensic psychologist who had a Ph.D. in clinical and forensic psychology (R3-10) and Joseph Sesta, a neuropsychologist. (R3-47) These mental health experts administered a number of different tests. In October, 1998, Dr. D'Errico performed the Wechsler Adult

²The judge classified all of the noncapital sentences as departures from the guidelines and justified the departures based on the two capital felonies that were not scored. (R2-289) There does not appear to be a scoresheet in the file.

Intelligence Scale-Revised. Hertz had a full scale IQ of 92 but his verbal scale IQ score was 79, with a performance scale IQ of 118. (R1-88)(R3-27-28) This discrepancy led Dr. D'Errico to believe that Hertz suffered from some sort of brain damage. (R1-88) (R3-28)

Mr. Hertz was then evaluated by Dr. Joseph Sesta, a neuropsychologist. (R3-48) Neuropsychology deals with brain illness and how it affects thinking, behavior and the emotional process. (R3-49) Dr. Sesta performed seven hours of testing and interviews, including administering the Halstead-Reitan neuropsychological test battery; tests of verbal and nonverbal memory; a frontal lobe function test; and a competency assessment instrument. (R3-55) The Halstead-Reitan test is the most accurate and reliable measure of human brain function. (R3-50) Hertz' Halstead score indicated a mild range of brain impairment. (R3-62)

Hertz was born on March 8, 1977. (R1-90) His parents were hearing disabled. They could not speak to him while he was growing up. (R3-13) He was raised off and on by his maternal grandmother. (R3-81) The adults in his life observed that Hertz had difficulty paying attention; that he would never sit still. (R3-79) His mother described his behavior as wild and stubborn and he would not listen to her. (R3-85) In school, Hertz would not focus on the teacher but instead picked on the other kids in class. (R3-79) The grandmother, Iris Watson, took him to a doctor who prescribed Ritalin.

(R3-80) Both her and the teacher noticed a marked difference when Hertz was taking the medication. (R3-80) Ms. Watson said that when her grandson was on the medication, he could have an intelligent conversation. (R3-81) His mother also notice his improvement when Hertz was taking Ritalin. (R3-86)

Hertz was diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHA). (R3-19) This behavior was prevalent during his childhood. (R1-91) He was prescribed Ritalin, which seemed to have some effect on his behavior. (R3-21) When Hertz was 18, he attempted suicide by taking an overdose of the Ritalin. As a result, he spent four days at an inpatient psychiatric treatment center. He was discharged at the time with a diagnosis of adjustment disorder with a depressed mood. (R3-22) Hertz was also diagnosed with having significant cognitive deficits in short-term memory, auditory phonological processing and fluid reasoning. (R1-91)

Both mental health experts noticed that it was difficult getting and holding Hertz's attention during their interviews. Hertz was hyperactive and he would have to be repeatedly reminded to focus on the task at hand. (R3-24) This was especially true of Hertz's test taking ability. (R3-24(R3-52) Dr. Sesta tried to compensate by taking frequent breaks. (R3-53) The result of the neuropsychological testing showed that Hertz was suffering from mild cerebral disfunction and that the left side of his brain was functioning much more poorly than the right side. In addition, the front part of

his brain was not functioning as well as it should have. (R3-56) These brain problems were of a neuro deficit development disorder. (R3-57) This could be caused by a variety of factors, including being raised in a nonverbal household by deaf parents; his ADHD; and representative of a learning disability. (R3-58) Learning and attention are brain functions and problems with both suggest brain disfunction. (R3-58)

Dr. D'Errico found Mr. Hertz to not be competent to stand trial. (R3-33) He identified three areas of concern -- (1) communicating with his lawyer; (2) displaying appropriate behavior; and (3) testifying relevantly. (R3-34) Dr. D'Errico determined that although Hertz had a factual understanding of the charges against him and the penalties he faced, he did not have a rational understanding of this information. (R3-26) Hertz did not have a realistic assessment of the evidence against him and repeatedly talked about going home. (R3-26) As a consequence, Dr. D'Erico felt that Hertz's ability to assist his attorney in a coherent fashion, especially over time, was unacceptable. (R3-27) An employee of the defense attorney concurred with this conclusion. Her contact with Hertz about the case demonstrated his inability to focus on what was important. He would not answer questions about the case and was always more concerned about peripheral personal matters. (R3-88-89)

Dr. Sesta's conclusions were similar. He believed that Hertz's brain disfunction affected his capacity to appreciate the seriousness of the charges. (R3-63) While

Hertz had a factual understanding of the murder charges and that he faced a possible death sentence, he could not rationally understand the consequences. Again, Hertz repeatedly brought up things he was going to do when he got out of jail. (R3-65) Dr. Sesta's opinion was that Hertz was incompetent to proceed at that time. Hertz's brain disfunction affected his ability to talk with his lawyer and help his lawyer in cross-examining witnesses. (R3-66) Dr. Sesta noted that he had been able to observe Hertz during the hearing and saw Hertz staring off into space, playing with his clothes and body parts, and not paying attention to the proceedings. (R3-66)

The State presented the testimony of Dr. Wayne Conger, a clinical psychologist. Less than five percent of his case work involves criminal cases. (R3-94) Dr. Conger evaluated Hertz twice at the jail for about seven hours. (R3-96) He opined that Hertz was competent to stand trial. (R3-97) Like Dr. Sesta, Dr. Conger administered the Halstead-Reitan test to Mr. Hertz. (R3-97) He agreed that Hertz had a history of learning disability and a lifetime of verbal difficulties. (R3-99) Dr. Conger noted that Hertz's verbal IQ was borderline. (R3-99)

Dr. Conger thought that Hertz could help his lawyer if he wanted to, as he had the ability and memory of events. (R3-100) Hertz had more ability and memory functioning than Hertz gave himself credit for or would show to other people. (R3-102) Regardless of whether Hertz had ADHD, Conger believed Hertz should be able

to sustain attention during the trial. (R3-105) Dr. Conger based this conclusion on the test results of the Halstead-Reitan. (R3-105) Dr. Sesta testified that Dr. Conger's results would be invalid because Dr. Conger disregarded four sections of the test. (R3-135) In addition, Hertz would have learned from taking the same test three weeks before. (R3-109)

The State presented the testimony of Captain William Poole of the Wakulla County Sheriff's Department that in July or August of 1997, he interviewed Hertz at the FDLE office in St. Augustine. (R3-114) At that interview, 20 months prior to the competency hearing, Hertz was able to talk about details of the crime. (R3-115) A State Attorney investigator corroborated this contact. (R3-119) In August of 1997, Hertz was transported from the Volusia County Jail to the Wakulla County Jail. The police had wired the transport van for sound so they could listen to the conversations. (R3-124) Donnie Crum, a major with the Wakulla County Sheriff's Department, said he did not observe any unusual behavior by Hertz during the brief time he saw him during the trip. (R3-125) In addition, one thing Hertz talked about was hurting himself inside the jail. (R3-124)

Finally, the State adduced the testimony of Robert Hathcock. Hathcock was incarcerated in jail on a parole violation at the same time as Hertz. (R3-133) In July 1998, three months before Hertz's first clinical evaluation by Dr. D'Errico, Hathcock

testified that Hertz provided details to him about why Hertz was in jail. (R3-134)

Dr. Sesta was not surprised by Hertz's ability to tell other people about what might have happened. (R3-138) Hertz clearly functioned better sometimes than at other times. (R3-69) It was possible that Hertz had some ability to control how he functioned, especially in more private settings. (R3-70) All this did not change Dr. Sesta's opinion that Mr. Hertz was not competent to stand trial. (R3-138)

PENALTY PHASE

A. State presentation

The State introduced evidence that Mr. Hertz was on felony probation at the time of the commission of the two murders. (R19-2212) In addition, the State introduced a certified copy of an aggravated battery conviction from Volusia County. (R19-2213) This crime occurred after the date of the two murders. Karen King, mother of Melanie King, read a victim impact statement. (R19-2215) Janet Spears, the mother of Keith Spears, read a victim impact statement. (R19-2218)

B. Defense presentation

Hertz' parents were Deborah and Guerry, Sr. Mrs. Hertz was born totally deaf; (R19-2259) her husband had a severe hearing problem. Mr. Hertz left ear is deaf but he could hear some out of his right ear with the use of a hearing aid. (R19-2280) Mr. Hertz had a long history of drug usage, huffing paint and glue when he was ten years

old. (R19-2283) He graduated to using marijuana, hash, quaaludes, cocaine and acid. (R19-2281)

Hertz' parents³ first met while each of them attended the Florida School for the Deaf. (R19-2280) Mrs. Hertz graduated from the school (R19-2259) while Mr. Hertz went there for a short time. (R19-2280) Sometime after Mrs. Hertz finished school, she met up with Mr. Hertz again. Mr. Hertz got Mrs. Hertz hooked on drugs. (R19-2281) To support their habit, the parents began to steal things to pay for the drugs, usually by trading the stolen item for the illegal substance. (R19-2282) At some point, Mr. and Mrs. Hertz got arrested (more than once) for stealing and at one point faced the real probability of going to prison. (R19-2263) To keep from going to the big house, they devised a plan to get Mrs. Hertz pregnant (R19-2283) to avoid going to prison. (R19-2263) The plan worked and both of them received a probation sentence. (R19-2284)

During the early stage of her pregnancy, Mrs. Hertz used drugs. (R19-2264) The parents also fought and Mr. Hertz would physically abuse her. (R19-2264) (R19-2288) The relationship between them deteriorated to the point where she wanted to not be pregnant. To do this she would go to the bathroom and punch herself in the stomach. (R19-2264)

In spite of her efforts, the child was born. (R-19-2265) Hertz was born with a

³The parents married sometime after she got pregnant with Hertz. (R19-2263)

club foot. Apparently the father's family had this physical deformity in their history. (R19-2264) Mr. Hertz held this deformity against his son; because of his physical handicap, he wanted a perfect child. (R19-2284) When Hertz was just weeks old, the parents took him to live with Mrs. Hertz's mother in Ft. Pierce. (R19-2284) Eventually the parents reclaimed the child, but Hertz would return to his grandmother's care more than once. (R19-2304)(R19-2299) In addition, Hertz had continuing medical problems with his club foot. (R19-2301) He had to have multiple operations and any aftercare was affected by the parents' neglect. (R19-2301)(R19-2272)

Getting their child back did not stop the parents from continuing to use drugs. All the money the father earned was used to buy drugs. (R19-2267) The parents continued to fight. They would do this in front of Hertz; he would watch his father beat up his mother. One time the father choked his wife so hard that she could not breathe. When he finally let her go, she had major bruising on her neck. (R19-2268)(R19-2288) The fights were verbal as well. (R19-2288) Mr. Hertz admitted to the inability to control his temper when he was using drugs. (R19-2289) The parents' drug use was a dominant factor in their lives. (R-19-2304)

The child did not escape physical abuse by his father. (R19-2289) Mr. Hertz admitted to hitting and slapping his child. (R19-2268, 2289) He would spank Hertz until his rear end was purple. (R19-2269) The grandmother one time saw fingerprint

marks on the child's face. Mr. Hertz admitted to this. (R19-2303) The parents' drug use also caused severe financial hardships for the family. At one point, the family became homeless and lived out of a van for about 18 months. (R19-2269) Hertz's second grade teacher, Vita Lincoln, taught Hertz at Sable Elementary in Melbourne. (R19-2296) Hertz was in her low achieving class. (R19-2296) Lincoln noticed problems with the child. For instance, he would show up for school in dirty clothes and not properly clean. He smelled bad. Hertz was tired because he had been out all night with his parents fishing. (R19-2297) The family fished as its primary means for getting food. The school's principal, Bill Campbell, took Hertz under his wing and bought him clothes. Mrs. Lincoln learned at this point that the family was homeless. (R19-2297) Hertz was hyperactive and unhappy and had difficulty motivating himself. (R19-2297) He had a hard time being a student in the second grade. (R19-2297, 2292)

When his son was eight, Mr. Hertz started sharing marijuana with him. Hertz would use the drug until he got high. Over the years, Mr. Hertz came to share other drugs with his son. (R19-2290) Mrs. Hertz became addicted to cocaine after her husband got her to try it. Hertz would see his parents use cocaine. (R19-2270) At some point Hertz convinced his mother that she should not reconcile with his father again. (R19-2271) In the past, Mrs. Hertz had agreed to get back with her husband (or ex-husband) supposedly for the benefit of the child. (R19-2271)

The parents also had another child named Casper. (R19-2274) There was no question that the father treated Casper with more love and affection than he did Hertz. (R-19-2274) While the father was happy to buy gifts for Casper, he treated Hertz very differently, almost standoffish. (R19-2274-2275)

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