IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GUERRY WAYNE HERTZ,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-457

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR WAKULLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The state would submit that in the instant case the facts and circumstances presented and found by the trial court support the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor for these murder.

4. Pecuniary Gain

The last assault on the aggravating factors found by the trial court concerns whether the murders were for pecuniary gain. Citing <u>Scull v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1988), Hertz argues that the trial court made no finding that "the purpose of the murder or the sole motive for the murder was pecuniary gain." The record reflects, however, that the trial court merged this aggravating factor with the fact that the capital felony was committed during the course of a burglary, arson or robbery. The State would submit that having merged the two, the

- 71 -

trial court was correct in setting forth the basis for doing so. Hertz, Looney and Dempsey approached Melanie King's and Keith Spears' abode with a purpose of stealing a black Mustang and white Ford Ranger. Upon gaining entry into the mobile home, their thievery immediately escalated to anything valuable on the premises including VCR's, TV's and approximately fifteen hundred dollars in cash. There is absolutely no basis to suggest that there was any other motive, let alone the sole or dominate motive for these murders but robbery and pecuniary gain. <u>See</u> <u>Hildwin v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 193, 194-95 (1998); <u>Bates v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 617 (Fla. 1999).

5. Harmless Error

Hertz further argues that even should this Court strike any of the four aforenoted aggravating factors complained of, the remaining aggravating factors when compared with the mitigation presented would render any error harmful in this sentencing proceeding.

First, none of the aggravating factors found by the trial court are suspect. The trial court properly found each proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Even assuming for a moment, however, that aggravating factor is found wanting, facts an and circumstances supporting the remaining aggravating factors and the mitigation found by the trial court, would render any erroneously found aggravating factor to be harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. See Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1998) (harmless error when HAC struck); Knight v. State, 746 So.2d 423, 435 (Fla. 1998) (striking HAC harmless error); Jones v. State, 748 So.2d 1012, 1027 (Fla. 1999) (striking avoid arrest harmless error); Zack v. State, 753 So.2d 9, 20 (Fla. 2000) (striking avoid arrest factor harmless error).

Based on the foregoing the State would urge this Court to deny all relief as to Issue II on appeal.

- 73 -

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY EXCUSED FOR CAUSE VENIRE MEMBER WHOSE OPPOSITION TO THE DEATH PENALTY MAY HAVE PREVENTED OR SUBSTANTIALLY IMPAIRED HER ABILITY TO PERFORM AS A JUROR.

Hertz argues that Michelle Free was "impermissibly struck from the jury venire on the erroneous grounds that her opposition to the death penalty rose to the level of exclusion under <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, 391 U.S. 510 (1968) and <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, 469 U.S. 412 (1985)." (Appellant's Brief at 62-63).

The record reflects that Ms. Free was specifically asked:

MR. MEGGS: Ms. Free, we are asking some questions about your feelings about the death penalty, so I have just first off a general question, and then we will get a little more specific.

Do you hold any personal, religious, moral, or conscientious scruples against the imposition of the death penalty?

MS. FREE: No.

MR. MEGGS: Okay. So in an appropriate case, you could vote to impose the death penalty?

MS. FREE: Well, I don't know if I could, really. My feeling is, even if someone did kill someone, it wouldn't bring that other back just by killing.

MR. MEGGS: Well, here's kind of the posture we're in here now. You know, this is kind of informal, but the State is seeking the death penalty in this case. And at the conclusion of all of the evidence, when you go back to deliberate, you are going to return a verdict a guilty or not guilty or some verdict dealing with this murder case.

If you do a verdict of guilty of firstdegree murder, then the death penalty is a possibility. Could you vote to impose -- to convict somebody when the death penalty is a possibility?

MS. FREE: No, sir.

MR. MEGGS: You could not?

MS. FREE: No.

MR. MEGGS: Your Honor, I think at this point she's --

THE COURT: Do you have any other questions? All right, Mr. Cummings?

MR. CUMMINGS: Ms. Free, your saying you can't even vote in the guilt phase whether the person is guilty or innocent because you know that there is a possibility of the death penalty, is that correct?

MS. FREE: Yeah.

MR. CUMMINGS: Okay. Could you vote in the guilt of innocent phase if you knew that the possibility was life in prison without parole?

MS. FREE: Yes, I could do that.

MR. CUMMINGS: You could do that?

MS. FREE: Uh-huh.

MR. CUMMINGS: So, in the situation that we're in today, there is two choices. Are

you aware that whatever your choice is, it goes as a group recommendation to the jury?

MS. FREE: Uh-huh.

MR. CUMMINGS: Six to six or, whatever way it looks like, its just a recommendation.

MS. FREE: Yeah. Uh-huh.

MR. CUMMINGS: Could you sit in a panel and discuss with you fellow jurors your feelings why the death penalty wasn't appropriate in that case?

MS. FREE: Yes.

MR. CUMMINGS: You could certainly try to impose your opinion on others.

MS. FREE: I would try.

MR. CUMMINGS: And you listen to them, wouldn't you?

MS. FREE: Yes.

MR. CUMMINGS: <u>So assuming you have all this</u> <u>discussion</u>, <u>an open discussion about the</u> <u>possibility of one sentence or the other</u>, <u>are you going to tell us today that you</u> <u>still couldn't participate in that</u> <u>discussion if you were on a jury</u>?

MS. FREE: I just don't believe that I could actually be -- take a person life. Even if they were found guilty of killing someone, I would just rather them spend the rest of their life in jail because its not going to bring the person back, anyway.

MR. CUMMINGS: And that's true.

MS. FREE: Yeah, so --

MR. CUMMINGS: So you would have your opportunity, then, to express your opinions as to why this person would spend the rest of his natural life in prison, never getting out.

MS. FREE: Yeah.

MR. CUMMINGS: You'd have the ability to try to convince others --

MS. FREE: I would try, yeah.

MR. CUMMINGS: You would try. But you don't necessarily want to be in that position, do you?

MS. FREE: Well, I mean, if I am, it wouldn't matter. My opinion is I just would not want to take someone else's life, just because --I mean, I know it's bad that they killed someone or anybody kills anybody, but it wouldn't bring that person back.

MR. CUMMINGS: That's true about that. So you could get by the guilt phase to get into this discussion about what's appropriate and you could express your opinion?

MS. FREE: Yes.

MR. CUMMINGS: So you could sit on the jury part where it's guilt or innocence?

MS. FREE: I believe I could, yes.

MR. CUMMINGS: Okay. But once you get to the other point, you're a little hesitant, but you could go in there and express your opinion to the jurors?

MS. FREE: Yes, sir.

MR. CUMMINGS: This is the way I feel, this is why I feel it, this is why I think life

without parole is appropriate; you could do that, couldn't you?

MS. FREE: Yes. . .

(RV 170-175) (Emphasis added). Following a series of questions with regard to whether Ms. Free knew anything about the facts and circumstances of the case, the State sought cause challenges as to Ms. Kinsey and Ms. Free.

MR. MEGGS: Judge, as a matter of law, Ι Kinsey and think Ms. Ms. Free are disqualified from sitting on this jury. They both has said, without regard to what Mr. Cummings asked them, they both have said they could not vote to impose the death penalty and that they would express their views, but both of them have stated they could not -- one said she could not do it unless it was her daughter. Well, it's not her daughter.

And this one said she could not do it and she would try to talk the other one's out of doing it. So we're trying to pick a jury that will follow the law, and the law is the death penalty is appropriate in Florida. As so I would ask that both of these be excused for cause.

If they were to sit on the jury, we have two already who have made up their mind, that it doesn't matter what we present, they're not going to vote for the death penalty. And that's grounds for cause under <u>Witt</u>. I guess that's a U.S Supreme Court case.

THE COURT: Alright.

MR. CUMMINGS: Judge, if I could just have a minute here to make a note. I believe the State may have a better argument with reference to Ms. Kinsey, the second juror.

But as to Ms. Free, I don't think their argument is as strong. She's certainly going to go in there, she's going to try to impose her opinion, she's going to follow the law.

Initially she couldn't even vote in the guilt phase, but she turned that around; she could vote in the guilt phase.

I don't believe, in respect to Ms. Free, that the State has as good a case for cause under <u>Witt</u> as they do in Kinsey. I'd ask the Court not to excuse Ms. Free for cause.

Ms. Kinsey, she did say absolutely no to my final question, trying to simplify things.

THE COURT: Anything further?

MR. THOMPSON: Judge, I would object to the excusal of both Ms. Kinsey and Ms. Free. They both indicated that they could vote in the guilt or innocence phase, and these defendants are entitled to a cross-section of the community, and so far we have three people come in here.

Two of them have reservations about the death penalty. If we excuse people based upon their hesitancy to vote to impose a death penalty, when they can still vote in the guilty and innocence phase, we're depriving Mr. Hertz of a right to a jury that represents a cross-section of the community.

THE COURT: I don't think either of these jurors indicated they could be fair and impartial in all the phases of this case, and I'm going to have to grant the State's motion and to Ms. Kinsey and Ms. Free.

MR. CUMMINGS: So is that a court standard, that we need to ask whether they can be fair and impartial in each phase?

THE COURT: Well, both of the juror indicated and said that under no circumstances would they vote in favor of the death penalty. I don't think there was any equivocation.

There was, I grant you, perhaps a little more maybe with -- well, I'm not sure. I think perhaps more with Ms. Kinsey than there was with Ms. Free, for that matter.

I think under <u>Witt</u> both of them are properly excused, if the State requests a challenge for cause. . .

(RV 176-179).

The record reflects that on three separate occasions Ms. Free testified that she could not impose the death penalty "even if someone did kill someone, it wouldn't bring that other person back just by killing them." (RV 171, 173, 174). Counsels for Hertz and Looney attempted to rehabilitate Ms. Free under a misconceived notion that because a juror may be willing to convict a defendant of first-degree murder, there is no need for that juror to have an open mind with regard to both the aggravation and mitigation to be presented in the penalty phase Clearly, Ms. Free could not do that, she was of a case. unequivocal with regard to her stance that she would try and convince others that death was not appropriate, "no matter what the aggravation or lack of mitigation might show." "My opinion is I just would not want to take someone else's life, just because -- I mean, I know it's bad that they killed someone or

- 80 -

anybody kills anybody, but it wouldn't bring that person back." (RV 174).

In <u>San Martin v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 462, 467-468 (Fla. 1998), this Court observed:

> Finally, San Martin claims that prospective jurors that did not believe in the death penalty were improperly eliminated by peremptory or cause challenges. As United Supreme Court explained in Lockhart, individuals who cannot and will not conscientiously obey the law with respect to one of the issues in a capital case" are subject to removal for cause. Lockhart, 476 U.S. at 176, 106 S.Ct. 1758. In addition, may properly exercise "the State its peremptory challenges to strike prospective jurors who are opposed to the death penalty, but not subject to challenges for cause . . . [because] [b]oth parties have the right to peremptory strike "persons thought to be inclined against their interest"." (cite omitted). In order to state a claim regarding the striking of a juror for his or her views on the death penalty, San Martin would have to identify a specific instance where a prospective juror was removed for cause even though the jurors view on capital punishment would not "prevent or substantially impair the performance of [the jurors] duties as a juror in accordance with [the jurors] instructions and [the jurors] oath." Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. at 424, 105 S.Ct. 844 (quoting <u>Adams v. Texas</u>, 448 U.S. 38, 44, 100 S.Ct. 2521, 65 L.Ed.2d 581 (1980)) (clarifying decision in <u>Witherspoon</u> v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968). . . .

717 So.2d at 461-462.

Likewise in <u>Kearse v. State</u>, ___ So.2d ___, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S507 (Fla. 2000), the Court rejected Kearse's challenge to the State's cause challenge of Juror Jeremy. The Court observed

> . . . the test for determining juror competency is whether the juror can lay aside any bias or prejudice and render a verdict solely on the evidence presented and the instruction on the law given by the See Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038, court. 1041 (Fla. 1984). A juror must be excused for cause if any reasonable doubt exist as to whether the juror posses an impartial state of mind. See Bryan v. State, 656 So.2d 426, 428 (Fla. 1995). A trial court has great discretion when deciding whether to grant or deny a challenge for cause based on jurors incompetency. <u>See Pentacose v.</u> <u>State</u>, 545 So.2d 861 (Fla. 1989). The decision to deny a challenge for cause will be upheld on appeal if there is support in the record for the decision. See Gore v. State, 706 So.2d 1328, 1332 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 892, 119 S.Ct. 212, 142 L.Ed.2d 174 (1998). "In reviewing a error such as this claim of we have recognized that the trial court has a unique vantage point in the determination of juror bias. The trial court is able to see the voir dire responses jurors' and make observations which simply cannot be discerned from an appellate record." Smith v. State, 699 So.2d 629, 635-36 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008, 118 S.Ct. 1194, 140 L.Ed.2d 323 and <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 523 U.S. 1020, 118 S.Ct. 1300, 140 L.Ed.2d 466 (1998); see also Taylor v. State, 638 So.2d 30, 32 (Fla. 1994). It is the trial court's duty to determine a challenge for cause is proper. See Smith, 699 So.2d at 636.

> The trial courts finding that Juror Jeremy's views would have substantially impaired her performance as a juror is

adequately supported by the record. Throughout questioning by the State and defense counsel Jeremy stated that her feelings about the death penalty would impair her ability to follow the law and that she just could not see herself voting for death when she knew that a true life sentence was an alternative. Thus, there was no error in dismissing Jeremy for cause.

25 Fla.L.Weekly at S509. <u>See also Fernandez v. State</u>, 730 So.2d 277, 281 (Fla. 1999); <u>Hill v. State</u>, 477 So.2d 553, 555-556 (Fla. 1985) and <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 638 So.2d 30-32 (Fla. 1994).

Based on the foregoing there is absolutely no question that Ms. Free could not sit as a fair and impartial juror without substantially impairing her performance in accordance with both the jurors instructions and/or oath. All relief must be denied as to this claim.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE'S MOTION TO REQUIRE UNANIMOUS VERDICTS AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

Citing to <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000), Hertz argues that "any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt." 120 S.Ct. at 2362-63. In light of the foregoing, Hertz argues that under Florida's death penalty scheme the juries recommendation is not unanimous nor is the jury required to tell anyone what aggravation is found. Hertz invites this Court "in light of <u>Apprendi</u>" to reexamine the majority vote practice in jury capital sentencing and require jury unanimity, including but not limited to the existence of any aggravating factors and as to the recommended sentence. (Appellant's Brief 73).

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